HA-281 1871

First Aegis Building
119 S. Main Street
Bel Air

Private

This 1871 brick building was not the first home of The Aegis,
but it was the first built specifically to house that durable
newspaper. The pleasing porch with its wood shingled second
story sun porch is a later addition. It gives the building an
eclectic tone and a handsome anchor for a block of almost entirely
frame structures.
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CONDITION CHECK ONE CHECK ONE
—EXCELLENT __DETERIORATED —UNALTERED X ORIGINAL SITE
—GOooD —RUINS X ALTERED —MOVED DATE
X FAIR —UNEXPOSED

DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

This two story brick building with a hipped roof is at 119 S. Main
Street in the Town of Bel Air, Harford County, Maryland. The front
(west) elevation is divided into three bays, a fact obscured by the
second story enclosed porch which is supported by four Roman Doric
columns in the first story. Similar columns are engaged at the
ends of the facade. The upstairs porch has a wooden shingle body
topped by 6 double-hung sash windows, three vertical panes over one.
This is topped by a cornice with a dentil band. The porch looks so
handsomely shingle style that one may theorize it to be a later
addition. The 1904 insurance map shows no porch. The original
windows in the building are all the older 6/6 double-hung sash.

Two entrances in the extremes of the north and south bays flank a
center window set in moulded surround with a wooden sill. All the
windows are so set in. The first floor porch is completed by a
wrought iron balustrade. About 25 feet of the building is two story;
the rest is a single story with an enclosed frame porch on the rear
(east) elevation. The one story portion has a sloping flat roof.
There are two plain chimneys, one between the middle and east bay on
the south elevation and one midway in the same elevation in the single
story section.

CONTINUE ON SEPARATE SHEET IF NECESSARY
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

This long, narrow brick building is not the first home of the Aegis,
but it is the first building built expressly for the paper. Changed and
added to over the hundred years of its life, this building is now in only
fair shape, but it retains a certain raffish charm.

The Southern Aegis was founded in 1856 by John Carroll Walsh and
John Cox. The newspaper was vociferously southern in sympathy. Cox
(who died of acute indigestion in 1897) became the sole owner in 1859.
He was an editor of the old school, violent in his sympathies and in
his editorials. His editorial sarcasm at the American Party (the
"Know-Nothings") cost him the county printing, and his slashing comments
about fellow editors whether whig or Democrat were legend. As a sample
of his old fashioned Jacksonian style, this is his comment about the
(Bel Air) National American in 1858 when Richard Bouldin purchased it
and handed it over to Frank Barr to run: "We welcome Mr. B. to the
ring, feeling assured that in his hands the frog will reach as near to
the dimensions of the ox as the elasticity of its skin will allow".
Definite echoes of Mark Twain's ironic style continued to flavor Cox's
journalism, showing that good old fashioned American humor was not
confined to the West. It is not kKknown where the first home of the Aegis
was, but in November 1859 Cox announced that he had moved to the "Town
Hall across from the Courthouse" possibly in the building marked
"Democrat Print" (approximately on the site of the Red Fox today) on
the 1858 map. In the same issue, after announcing that he had lost a
local political campaign, he accused Bouldin of the American of
stuffing the ballot box. As the Civil War drew closer he became more
violent in his southern sympathies, calling for secession in April of
1861. In October he supported a "Peace and States' Rights" ticket. He
was dismayed when Harford voted a Lincoln Union ticket and printed the
Virginia and Kentucky Resolutions (the work of Jefferson and James
Madison and the ideological basis of states' rights and secession)
in reply. It was clear that a man of such temperament would not be
able to publish during the hostilities. He handed the editorial reins
to Alfred W. Bateman in March 1862. Bateman continued in the office
until 1864 when Frederick W. Baker became editor. At that time the
paper was printed in the brick Jarrett Building. This building, built
by A. L. Jarrett on land leased from Pamelia Hays, daughter of Thomas,
was on Office Street. Actually, it still is. When the Harford Mutual
Fire Insurance Company renovated and enlarged its office in 1930, the

CONTINUE ON SEPARATE SHEET IF NECESSARY
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VERBAL BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION

This property occupies the south part of parcel #887 in the Town of
Bel Air. This portion is 22' x 120°'.
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o0ld building was completely surrounded by the expanded and
enlarged building. Baker, equally vociferous in his southern
sympathies, was, nevertheless, a more discreet man. It was only
after the war was over that he bagan to write violently about

the federal government. Reconstruction left him nearly -- but
not quite -- speechless with rage. The Aegis could be counted

upon to be anti-black and conservatively Democratic at all times.

In 1871 Baker leased the lot on which this building stands
from William Oldfield for $55 a year (26/20) and built the brick
portion of this building, moving the Aegis there. The newspaper
remained there until 1905 when it moved to the "0ld Aegis Building"
at 29 Courtland.

Baker continued to run the paper until 1894 when he sold it
to Frank E. Gorrell. After the Redemption of Maryland, Baker
continued to support the conservative wing of the remergent
Democratic Party, but as time passed he became milder in his
strictures on the Republicans as it became clear that the latter
party had no ghost of a chance in solidly Democratic Harford
County.

Gorrell kept the paper for five years and sold it to Walter
Finney and Louis Dashiell. They in turn sold it to John D.
Worthington, Sr., in 1904. The paper has been edited by
Worthingtons ever since. 1In 1962 the Aegis moved to its large
new quarters on Hays Street. Since the Second World War several
papers have been merged with the Aegis. The paper is, today,
the most influential weekly in Harford County.

As for the old building, Baker retained the lease, even
after he moved to Richmond. He sold the lease in 1908 to
William F. Hays and Joseph T. Deckman for $261 (125/140),

a seemingly low price for a brick building. 1In 1911 in the
general collapse of Deckman's financial empire, he sold his
share to George A. Hays (134/285). 1In 1919 the Hays brothers
sold the lease to John F. Finneran and his wife, Eugenia, for
$2583.39 (166/150).

The fee remained in William Oldfield's hands until 1911,
when he sold it to James J. Archer as trustee for Elizabeth
Archer Bruen (134/270). After James Archer's death, Mrs. Bruen
sued to regain her property (equity 134/170). 1In 1922 she
received the deed to this lot (178/162). 1In 1929 she sold the
fee to the Finnerans, who had held the lease since 1919.

Mrs. Finneran lives there today.

(#8 Cont'd)
Page 2 of 2
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TITLE:
FIRST AEGIS BLDG,

119 S, Main

22 January 1951

Edward D, Higinbothom
to

Eugenie M, Finneran and

Frances E, Finneran

a straw transaction

22 January 1951

Eugenie M., Finneran, widow
to

Edward D, Higinbothom

2 lots, 119 and 117 S, Main

The Title to 117 S, Main is separate and
will be found in the Wattenscheidt's Jewelry
Store file,

Also a straw transaction

15 October 1929
Elizabeth Archer Bruen, widow
to
John F, and Eugenia Finneran
$916.16
The reversion of the ground rent giving
the fee simple to the Finnerans

3 May 1922

William S, Archer
to

Elizabeth A. Bruen

This conveyance was the result of a lTawsuit

(equity 13L/170) Elizabeth A. Bruen vs William

S. Archer and Robert Archer, Administrators of

James J. Archer, deceased, Mrs. Bruen had given
James Archer $12,000 to invest for her and

hold in trust, The administrators of his estate
would not terminate the trust without instructions
from the court, The court ordered them to terminate
the trust and turn Mrs. Bruen's property over to
her,



134/270 25 April 1911
William L. O0ldfield
to
James J. Archer, trustee for Elizabeth
A, Bruen

25/428 29 March 1871
Benjamin P, Moore, Jr.
to
William Oldfield

17/80 12 March 1866
Hannah Lee
to
Benjamin P. Moore
$4o0o
the larger 1ot

166/150 the lease
8 November 1919
William F., Hays & George A. Hays, unmarried

to
The Finnerans
$2583,39
134/285 10 October 1911
Joseph T, Deckman and Flor ida, wife
to

George A, Hays s interest

125/1L40 2L Jutly 1908
Frederick W, Baker and Sarah, wife, of
Richmond, Virginia
to

gié]iam F. Hays and Joseph T. Deckman
2601

26/20 13 June 1871
William Oldfield
to
Frederick Baker
99 year lease, $55 per annum
"The buildings hereafter to be erected to
be insured.”
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